I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner, Irwin Naturals ("Irwin") respectfully requests that this 

Court review the Court of Appeals' opinion below. 

This matter arises out of the Respondent's, State of Washington 

Department of Revenue's (the "Department") assessment of business and 

occupation tax ("B&O tax") and retail sales tax on Irwin's retail sales in 

the State of Washington for the period of 2004 through 2009 (the 

"Period"). Beginning in 2004, Irwin made retail sales of its nutritional 

products to customers in Washington. Irwin had been making wholesale 

sales of its products to retailers and distributors in Washington since prior 

to 2002. The retail sales and wholesale sales were made through two 

separate and independent channels - for wholesale sales (the "Wholesale 

Channel") and for retail sales (the "Retail Channel"). Sales made through 

the Wholesale Channel were handled in-house by Irwin, while sales 

through the Retail Channel were outsourced to third parties. In addition 

to these differences, the presence of products sold through the Wholesale 

Channel on the shelves of Washington retailers in no way helped to 

promote or expand Irwin's market for products sold through the Retail 

Channel. In fact, the reverse relationship is true. 

The uncontroverted facts of this case prove that Irwin is permitted 

to dissociate its two types of revenues since the in-state activities relating 



to the Wholesale Channel are not in any way associated with the retail 

sales made through the Retail Channel. The unambiguous holding of the 

United States Supreme Court in Norton Co. v. Dep 't of Revenue, State of 

Ill., 340 U.S. 534, 538 71 S. Ct. 377, 95 L. Ed. 517 (1951), and the 

Department's WAC 458-20-193 (2010) ("Rule 193") permit dissociation 

where the taxpayer can demonstrate that in-state activities "were not 

decisive factors in establishing and holding [the] market" for unrelated 

sales and the activities are not "significantly associated in any way." 

Irwin's in-state activities relating to its Wholesale Channel during the 

Period were certainly not "decisive factors" in "establishing" or "holding" 

the market for the Irwin's Retail Channel sales, nor were the Wholesale 

Channel and Retail Channel significantly associated in any way. This case 

involves an issue of substantial public interest because there are countless 

Washington taxpayers with business operations similar to that of Irwin. 

The predictability and impact of Washington's tax laws are critical for 

business planning purposes. 

This case also involves a significant question of law under the U.S. 

Constitution because the Department has ignored the clear direction of the 

United States Supreme Court in recognizing dissociation under the 

Commerce Clause. Under these decisions, dissociation is permitted where 

the state lacks transactional nexus over the activities or transactions the 
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state seeks to tax. The undisputed facts of this case are that any and all 

business activities of the Retail Channel took place outside Washington. 

As a result, Washington lacked the requisite transactional nexus to impose 

tax in this case and Irwin's request for dissociation must be granted. 

II.. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Irwin asks this Court to review the July 25, 2016 opinion of the 

Court of Appeals in this matter (the "Opinion"). The Opinion upheld the 

Department's assessment of B&O tax and sales tax on Irwin's retail sales. 

The Department moved for publication of the Opinion, and that motion 

was granted on September 12, 2016. A copy of the publication order and 

Opinion is attached as Appendix A. 

III.. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. Under the United States Supreme Court's holding in 

Norton, a taxpayer can dissociate sales where in-state activities "were not 

decisive factors in establishing and holding [the] market" for unrelated 

sales. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Irwin's Wholesale 

Channel sales were decisive factors in establishing and holding the market 

for Irwin's Retail Channel sales? 

II. Rule 193 provides that a taxpayer may dissociate sales for 

B&O tax purposes when the "instate activities are not significantly 

associated in any way with the sales into the state." Did the Court of 
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Appeals err in holding that Irwin's in-state Wholesale Channel sales were 

significantly associated with its retail sales in the State where the 

uncontroverted evidence is that the Retail and Wholesale Channels 

operated independent of one another during the period at issue? 

III. The concept of transactional nexus requires that a 

taxpayer's transactions or activities have a nexus- or connection- with a 

state before it can be required to follow the tax laws of that state. Did the 

Court of Appeals err in holding that Irwin has a substantial nexus with 

Washington for sales tax purposes? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Irwin brought this refund action in Thurston County Superior 

Court challenging the B&O and sales tax assessment issued by the 

Department for the Period of 2002 through 2009. Beginning in 2004, 

Irwin began making retail sales of nutritional products to Washington 

residents. CP 21. Irwin had no employees or independent contractors 

physically present in Washington to solicit retail sales. CP 21. Irwin 

owned no property in Washington related to its solicitation of retail sales 

in the State. CP 21. 

Prior to beginning its retail sales in 2004, Irwin had already been 

making wholesale sales of its products to retailers and distributors in 

Washington. CP 19. Employees of Irwin visited Washington during the 
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Period to solicit wholesale sales. CP 20, 22. Irwin also engaged 

independent contractors to solicit wholesale sales on its behalf during the 

Period. CP 21-22. 

The parties filed cross motions for summary judgment in the 

Superior Court. The Department argued that (a) dissociation was 

unavailable for B&O tax purposes and (b) the holding in Nat 'I Geographic 

Soc. v. Cal. Bd. of Equalization, 430 U.S. 551, 97 S. Ct. 1386, 51 L. Ed. 

2d 631 (1977), precluded the concept of "transactional nexus" from being 

applied in the context of the retail sales tax. Irwin argued that both Rule 

193 and Norton supported dissociation of retail sales from its wholesale 

sales for B&O tax. The lower court granted summary judgment to the 

Department, denying summary judgment to Irwin. Irwin timely filed a 

notice of appeal to the Court of Appeals. 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the ruling of the trial court holding 

that Irwin had a "substantial physical presence" in Washington such that 

the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution did not prohibit the State 

from imposing sales tax on Irwin. The Court of Appeals also held that the 

"requisite nexus" existed to support the Department's imposition of B&O 

tax on Irwin. 
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V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

A trial court's order granting summary judgment is reviewed de 

novo. In re the Estate of Bracken, 175 Wn. 2d 549, 562, 290 P.3d 99 

(2012). The appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court 

in determining whether summary judgment is appropriate. Lybbert v. 

Grant County, 141 Wn.2d 29, 34, 1 P.3d 1124 (2000). Summary 

judgment is appropriate where, viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the nonmoving party, there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. 

Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Wash., 175 Wn.2d 264, 271, 285 P.3d 854 (2012). 

In this case, the parties do not dispute the material facts. Accordingly, the 

issue in this case is whether the trial court correctly determined that Irwin 

was not entitled to refunds of B&O tax and sales tax, a question of law 

that is reviewed de novo. Bracken, 175 Wn.2d at 562. 

B. Irwin is Not Liable for B&O Taxes on Sales Completed 
by the Retail Channel Because They Are Dissociated 
From the In-state Activities of Irwin's Wholesale 
Channel Under the Rule of Law in the Norton Decision 

The Court should grant review of this Petition to clarify the current 

state of the B&O tax laws in Washington as it relates to the Department's 

interpretation and avoidance of the decision in Norton. This is an issue of 
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substantial public interest as the Department's action upset settled 

expectations of many Washington taxpayers. 

The Norton Court made clear that dissociation was permitted under 

the Commerce Clause, but held that in order to successfully claim 

dissociation a taxpayer would need to show that its in-state activities were 

not "decisive factors in establishing and holding" the market for the out

of-state sales. Norton, 340 U.S. at 538. The Court of Appeals in the case 

at bar correctly noted that in Norton the mere presence of a local office in 

the state by an out-of-state seller was not sufficient to support an 

assessment of B&O tax, unless the activities of the local office were 

"decisive factors in establishing and holding" a market for the out-of-state 

seller's out-of-state retail sales. See Opinion at pp. 8-9. 

The Washington Supreme Court followed the holding in Norton in 

the B.F. Goodrich case. B.F. Goodrich, 38 Wn.2d at 672, 674. Applying 

the test laid out in Norton, the Court held that the Commerce Clause 

prevented Washington from taxing all. retail sales because the taxpayer's 

out-of-state sales were dissociated from the in-state sales and the local 

offices did not facilitate sales accepted and filled outside Washington. 

The constitutional test outlined in Norton - followed in Goodrich -

remains good law in Washington. 
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However, the Court of Appeals agreed with the Department that 

the decisions in Avnet, Inc. v. State, Dep 't of Revenue, 187 Wn. App. 427, 

348 P.3d 1273 (2015), review granted, 184 Wn.2d 1026, 364 P.3d 120 

(2016), and Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Wash. Dep 't of Revenue, 483 U.S. 

232, 107 S. Ct. 2810, 97 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1987), controlled the decision in 

this case and that "the activities that form the nexus with the taxing state 

need not be tied to specific sales, but instead need only generally support 

the out-of-state vendor's ability to establish and maintain a market for its 

goods in the taxing state." Opinion at p. 22. The Department had argued 

Avnet stood "for the proposition that the foundation supporting Norton and 

B. F. Goodrich" has been eroded and "that the modem test for substantial 

nexus is whether the bundle of corporate activity 'carried on within the 

state supported the taxpayer's ability to establish and hold a market for its 

in-state sales."' Opinion at p. 19. The Department argued that there does 

not have to be a direct connection between Irwin's Washington wholesale 

activities and retail activities in order to establish a sufficient nexus to 

impose B&O tax. 

The Avnet court relied on Tyler Pipe Indus., Inc. v. Wash. Dep 't of 

Revenue, 483 U.S. 232, 107 S. Ct. 2810, 97 L. Ed. 2d 199 (1987), in 

which a Washington B&O tax assessment was held constitutional even 

though the taxpayer had no office or employees in the State because the 
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activities of the taxpayer's sales representatives in the State were 

significantly associated with the taxpayer's ability to establish and 

maintain a market in the State for sales. 

Relying on Avnet and Tyler Pipe, the Court of Appeals held that 

Irwin's Wholesale Channel activities in the State supported Irwin's ability 

to establish and maintain a market for its Retail Channel activities in the 

State, and therefore the B&O tax assessment was constitutional. See 

Opinion at pp. 24-25. However, Avnet is factually distinguishable from 

this case. Unlike in Avnet and Tyler Pipe, Irwin operated two different 

functional businesses - a retail (or direct response) business and a 

wholesale business. The target market for the Wholesale Channel was 

Washington retailers while the retail channel directed its activities at 

Washington residents. CP 45, 52. The operations of the Retail Channel 

were wholly independent from the operations of the Wholesale Channel. 

CP46. 

The business relating to the Wholesale Channel was handled 

entirely by Irwin employees at Irwin locations. ld. Irwin employees 

handled all operations relating to sales, processing, payment, collection 

and delivery for the Wholesale Channel. ld. Irwin employees and 

independent sales representatives soliciting sales for the Wholesale 

Channel did not solicit sales of products offered through the Retail 

9 



Channel. !d. When a purchaser of products from the Wholesale Channel 

called regarding a product, Irwin would refer the caller back to Irwin's 

wholesale customers for additional product purchases. CP 47. 

The separateness of the Retail Channel manifested itself through 

the use of third party service providers. CP 4 7. During the years at issue, 

Irwin retained unaffiliated vendors to handle the sales, processing, 

payment, collection and delivery activities of the Retail Channel. !d. 

Customer inquiries with respect to products sold through the Retail 

Channel were handled differently from those relating to the Wholesale 

Channel. !d. If a retail customer of Irwin called regarding a product 

offered through the Retail Channel, the third-party contractor answering 

the phone on behalf of Irwin would solicit sales of Irwin products offered 

through the Retail Channel. !d. 

The strongest fact supporting Irwin's claim to dissociation relates 

to the fact that the products sold by the Retail Channel involved different 

branding and packaging schemes, including entirely different contact 

information, than the products sold by the Wholesale Channel. !d. 

The sole exception to the independence of the two competing lines 

of business relates to the sale of the "Dual Action Cleanse" product. The 

business plan for "Dual Action Cleanse" was to initially offer it 

exclusively at retail. CP 48. As retail sales of the product began to peak, 
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Irwin would then offer "Dual Action Cleanse" for sale to wholesale 

customers. CP 4 7. The goal of this business strategy was to maximize the 

revenue of the sale of "Dual Action Cleanse" over its product life. See id. 

As the retail sales for "Dual Action Cleanse" began to fall, the wholesale 

sales would increase thereby maximizing total sales revenue for the 

product. 

In order for this business strategy to work, the price for "Dual 

Action Cleanse" in the Wholesale Channel needed to be significantly 

lower than the price offered to Irwin's retail customers. Uncontroverted 

evidence relating to the pricing of the "Dual Action Cleanse" product 

during the relevant periods supports the claim that it could be purchased 

significantly more cheaply through the Wholesale Channel. CP 49, 53-55. 

The average purchase price of sales of "Dual Action Cleanse" made to 

Washington residents through the Retail Channel for the period 2004-2009 

was $55.52. !d. By comparison, the average price for "Dual Action 

Cleanse" by Washington retailers in the Wholesale Channel was $20.86. 

!d. 

In each of the cases relating to transactional nexus or dissociation, 

the inquiry relates to whether the in-state activities helped establish or 

maintain a market for the business activities conducted outside the state. 

The marketing and sale of "Dual Action Cleanse" worked in the opposite 
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direction. The Retail Channel began selling "Dual Action Cleanse" in 

2004. Beginning in 2006 "Dual Action Cleanse" was made available in 

the Wholesale Channel and Irwin used an "As Seen On TV" marketing 

strategy to transition sales volume to the Wholesale Channel. With 

respect to "Dual Action Cleanse," it was the business activity ofthe Retail 

Channel which operated outside of Washington that assisted the sales 

growth of the Wholesale Channel inside the State. The end result of 

Irwin's business strategy for "Dual Action Cleanse" was to increase in

state wholesale sales subject to B&O Tax. Given the size of the price 

differential between the Retail Channel and the Wholesale Channel, there 

is no logical way, despite the Court of Appeals' finding to the contrary, 

that the Wholesale Channel's in-state activities relating to "Dual Action 

Cleanse" helped maintain Irwin's retail market in Washington for sales of 

the nutritional product. 

Under the Supreme Court's decision in Norton, Irwin is entitled to 

dissociate the sales made through the Retail Channel for B&O tax 

purposes and the Court of Appeals erred in holding otherwise. The Court 

must grant review in this case to correct the Department's and Court of 

Appeals' erroneous interpretation of the law which affects numerous 

taxpayers and is, therefore, of substantial public interest. 
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C. Irwin is Not Liable for B&O Taxes on Sales Completed 
by the Retail Channel Because They Are Dissociated 
from the In-state Activities oflrwin's Wholesale 
Channel Under Rule 193 

Rule 193 is clear on its face that Irwin is permitted to show that the 

in-state activities relating to its Retail Channel are dissociated from those 

involving the Wholesale Channel. The Court of Appeals dismissed 

Irwin's entire Rule 193 argument in a footnote on the last page of the 

Opinion by stating that Irwin had failed to carry the burden of establishing 

that its in-state activities were not significantly associated in any way with 

its retail sales in the state and therefore Irwin was not entitled to relief 

under Rule 193. See Opinion at p. 25. This is incorrect. As applicable to 

the Period, Rule 193 read in pertinent part as follows: 

(7) Inbound sales. . . . There must be 
both the receipt of goods in 
Washington by the purchaser and the 
seller must have nexus for B&O tax 
to apply to a particular sale. The 
B&O tax will not apply if one of 
these elements is missing .... 

************* 
(c) If a seller carries on significant 

activity in this state and conducts no 
other business in the state except the 
business of making sales, this person 
has the distinct burden of 
establishing that the instate activities 
are not significantly associated in 
any way with the sales into the state. 

13 



WAC 458-20-193 (20 1 0) (emphasis added). As it relates to the facts of 

this case, Rule 193 leaves no doubt that the retail sales made through the 

Retail Channel are dissociated from the in-state activities of the Wholesale 

Channel for B&O Tax purposes. The activities of the sales people for the 

Wholesale Channel did not include selling any retail products. CP 46. 

Within Irwin, the operations of the Retail Channel were wholly 

independent from the operations of the Wholesale Channel. CP 46. The 

strongest support for Irwin's claim to dissociation under Rule 193 relates 

to the fact that, other than the "Dual Action Cleanse" product, there was 

no overlap in branded products offered through the Retail Channel and the 

Wholesale Channel and products sold by the Retail Channel involved 

different branding and packaging schemes than the products sold by the 

Wholesale Channel. CP 46. These uncontroverted facts make clear that, 

other than the "Dual Action Cleanse" product, Irwin's nutritional products 

on retailers' shelves in Washington simply could not have influenced sales 

of nutritional products through the Retail Channel. 

Where branding, packaging and product mix do not overlap, an 

individual is unable to make the connection that the nutritional product on 

the shelf at a Washington retailer is in any way related to nutritional 

products sold under different brands and packaging by telephone or 

internet order. 
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Consistent with the overall business strategy for "Dual Action 

Cleanse," the pricing of the product through the Wholesale Channel was 

significantly less expensive than if a customer purchased "Dual Action 

Cleanse" through the Retail Channel. CP 49. Evidence relating to the 

pricing of the "Dual Action Cleanse" product shows that it could be 

purchased more cheaply through the Wholesale Channel. CP 49, 53-55. 

It is nonsensical to think that a Washington resident would walk into a 

Sam's Club in Seattle, pick up a bottle of "Dual Action Cleanse" for sale at 

$19.98, but decide instead to purchase the product from Irwin directly for 

the higher price of $55.52. The differences in pricing relating to the sale 

of the "Dual Action Cleanse" product is critical to Irwin's claim to 

dissociation under Rule 193. 

Irwin's Retail Channel and Wholesale Channel were operated 

independently in all respects. Critical to the analysis under Rule 

193(7)( c), the Retail Channel and the Wholesale Channel served 

completely separate markets for sales. Further, other than "Dual Action 

Cleanse," there was no crossover of nutritional products or branding 

between items offered by the Wholesale Channel and the Retail Channel. 

Although "Dual Action Cleanse" was offered through both the Wholesale 

Channel and the Retail Channel, the price differential prevented the sales 

of products through the Wholesale Channel from "establishing or 
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maintaining a market" for products sold through the Retail Channel. 

Under Rule 193(7)(c), the in-state activities of the Wholesale Channel in 

no way "established or maintained a market" for the Retail Channel. For 

these reasons, Court of Appeals' decision affirming the assessment of 

B&O tax by the Department must be abated under Rule 193. 

D. Irwin is Permitted to Dissociate Sales Made Through 
the Retail Channel for Sales Tax Purposes Under the 
Commerce Clause 

The Court should grant this Petition because it involves a 

significant question of law under the U.S. Constitution. That is, whether 

the current Commerce Clause jurisprudence of the United States Supreme 

Court overrules the forty-year old holding in National Geographic. 

In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals began its discussion oflrwin's 

liability for sales tax by explaining in depth the Norton and National 

Geographic cases relied on by Irwin and the Department. The Court 

explained that in Norton the "presence of a local office in the state was, by 

itself, insufficient to support the imposition of a B&O tax on transactions 

that did not involve the local office in any way" and that "a corporation 

'can avoid taxation on some Illinois sales only by showing that particular 

transactions are dissociated from the local business and interstate in 

nature."' Opinion at pp. 8-9 (quoting Norton, 340 U.S. at 537). 

However, the Court of Appeals noted that the Supreme Court expressly 
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limited its holding to a tax directly imposed on the vendor like B&O tax 

and did not express an opinion about the presence of a local office for 

purposes of sales tax. 

The Opinion then discusses the National Geographic decision in 

which the taxpayer had argued that because its mail order sales were 

separate and distinct from the activities of its in-state offices, the requisite 

nexus for the imposition of sales tax was not present. Opinion at p. 10. 

The Court disagreed with the taxpayer in National Geographic and 

concluded that "while a transactional nexus may be necessary to sustain a 

direct tax, like that at issue in Norton, 'such dissociation does not bar the 

imposition of the use-tax-collection duty"' and that it "was sufficient that 

the [taxpayer] had a 'substantial presence' in the state." !d. (quoting 

National Geographic, 430 U.S. at 560). The Court of Appeals noted that 

the Department relied heavily on the National Geographic opinion to 

support its imposition of sales tax on Irwin. 

The Court of Appeals then pointed out that Irwin's position was 

that National Geographic only addressed Due Process concerns with 

notice and fairness but failed to address Commerce Clause concerns and 

that, instead, Quill Corp. v. North Dakota, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 

119 L. Ed. 2d 91 (1992), controlled the issue in this case. The Opinion 

explains that the Supreme Court in Quill observed that, while the Due 
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Process Clause and Commerce Clause are closely related, they each 

impose separate limits on the taxing power of a state. Opinion at p. 12. 

Quill explained that Due Process concerns are met where there is "some 

definite link, some minimum connection, between a state and the person, 

property or transaction it seeks to tax[.]" Opinion at p. 13 (quoting Quill, 

504 U.S. at 306). Rejecting a formulistic, bright-line test, the Supreme 

Court in Quill "held that due process is satisfied if 'a foreign corporation 

purposefully avails itself of the benefits of an economic market in the 

forum State."' Opinion at p. 14 (quoting Quill, 504 U.S. at 307). The 

Quill court expressly stated that the nexus requirements of the Due 

Process Clause and the Commerce clause are not identical and that the 

nexus requirements of the Commerce Clause are those set forth in the case 

of Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady, 430 U.S. 374, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51

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