NO. 93724-9

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### IRWIN NATURALS,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Joshua Weissman, WSBA No. 42648 Assistant Attorney General Revenue and Finance Division PO Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5528 OID No. 91027



#

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This Court should deny review for three reasons. First, Irwin's central constitutional argument is identical to the argument being made in *Avnet*, even relying on the same two 1951 cases. Second, the former version of the administrative rule Irwin relies on has been substantially amended, and will also be addressed by this Court in *Avnet*. Third, there is no reason for this Court to accept review simply to apply the case law to the facts.

#### A. This Court Will Address "Dissociation" in Avnet.

The decision below is consistent with modern case law from the United States Supreme Court and this Court, and therefore RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not satisfied. The case also does not involve a significant constitutional issue or an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). The decision below is based on settled case law, and the Court will address the same legal issue in *Avnet*, alleviating the need to address "dissociation" in the state tax context for the second time here.

Under modern dormant commerce clause case law, courts apply a four-part test to determine whether a state may tax interstate commerce. A state tax is consistent with the commerce clause "when the tax [1] is applied to an activity with a substantial nexus with the taxing State, [2] is fairly apportioned, [3] does not discriminate against interstate commerce,

and [4] is fairly related to the services provided by the State." *Complete Auto Transit, Inc. v. Brady*, 430 U.S. 274, 279, 97 S. Ct. 1076, 51 L. Ed. 2d 326 (1977). *Complete Auto Transit* expressly overruled earlier cases that held that a state could not directly tax interstate commerce.

Only the "substantial nexus" prong is in dispute in this case. "A substantial nexus exists when a company's activities in Washington are both substantial and significantly associated with its ability to establish and maintain a market in Washington for its sales." *Space Age Fuels v. State*, 178 Wn. App. 756, 762, 315 P.3d 604 (2013).

Both Avnet and Irwin Naturals primarily rely on *Norton Co. v.*Illinois Dep't of Revenue, 340 U.S. 534, 71 S. Ct. 377, 95 L. Ed. 517

(1951). See Irwin's Pet. for Review at 2, 6-7, 12, 16; Avnet, 187 Wn. App. at 444-46. In Norton, a Massachusetts company with a Chicago office challenged an Illinois gross receipts tax on its Illinois-bound sales. Norton, 340 U.S. at 535-37. The Norton Court held that, notwithstanding the presence of the Chicago office, Illinois could not tax transactions where Illinois customers placed orders with Norton's Massachusetts office, which filled them and delivered the goods directly to the buyer via common carrier. Id. at 539. These sales were "so clearly interstate in character that the State could not reasonably attribute their proceeds to the local business . . . ." Id.

Both petitioners also rely on *B.F. Goodrich*, a Washington decision that reluctantly followed *Norton*. *B.F. Goodrich Co. v. State*, 38 Wn.2d 663, 675, 231 P.2d 325 (1951) (applying *Norton* shortly after that case was decided but remarking, "[w]ere we free to decide this case differently, we might well do so").

In both *Avnet* and this case, the Court of Appeals agreed with the Department that modern cases have modified the constitutional standards. *Avnet*, 187 Wn. App. at 445-47 (citing modern cases and explaining that "*Norton*'s foundations have been eroded by subsequent precedent"); Opinion at 20-23. A leading treatise agrees that *Norton* no longer provides the correct nexus standard because it was based on the direct vs. indirect taxation standard in effect at the time. WALTER HELLERSTEIN & JOHN A. SWAIN, STATE TAXATION ¶ 19.02[3][b][i] (3d ed. 2015) (explaining that "*Norton*, however, was rendered obsolete by *Complete Auto Transit*...", which rejected the formal distinction between direct and indirect taxes on interstate commerce).

Rather, the United States Supreme Court now focuses not on whether in-state activities are connected to specific transactions, but on whether the bundle of corporate activity in a state is geared towards establishing and maintaining a market. See Opinion at 22 (citing Tyler Pipe). This Court has adopted the same approach. Chicago Bridge & Iron

Co. v. Dep't of Rev., 98 Wn.2d 814, 821, 659 P.2d 463 (1983) (rejecting taxpayer's dissociation claim that because contracts for certain sales were negotiated and formalized out of state, nexus with Washington was absent for those sales). Therefore, in both Avnet and this case, the parties rely on the same case authority and arguments.<sup>3</sup>

Avnet and this case both involve the B&O tax, a tax imposed on a seller of goods for the gross proceeds from sales. See RCW 82.04.220. Irwin's case also involves the retail sales tax, which is not at issue in Avnet, but that distinction does not make the case worthy of review. The retail sales tax is collected by the seller from the purchaser, who then holds the tax in trust and remits it to the state. RCW 82.08.050. The seller becomes liable for the sales tax, however, if it does not collect the tax. RCW 82.08.050(3). That is what occurred with Irwin.

The sales tax element to this case does not warrant review because the United States Supreme Court has already addressed and rejected the same "dissociation" argument in a comparable sales and use tax collection case. The issue in *National Geographic* was whether California could require out-of-state seller National Geographic to collect use tax on direct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is an additional issue in *Avnet* that is not present in this case: whether a wholesale sale that involves a wholesale purchaser outside Washington but delivery to a separate Washington purchaser (a three-party transaction known as a drop shipment) is taxable under Washington law. Here, it is conceded that all the retail sales at issue occur in Washington.

mail-order sales of globes, maps, and atlases sent to California addresses.

National Geographic, 430 U.S. at 554. National Geographic maintained two offices in California from which it solicited advertising for its magazine. However, neither office performed any activity relating to National Geographic's mail-order business. Thus, National Geographic argued that its in-state activity—which was all related to advertising sales, not mail-order sales—should be disregarded in determining whether it must collect California use tax on mail-order sales. More specifically, "[t]he Society argues . . . that there must exist a nexus or relationship not only between the seller and the taxing State, but also between the activity of the seller sought to be taxed and the seller's activity within the State."

Nat'l Geographic, 430 U.S. at 560.

The Supreme Court squarely rejected National Geographic's dissociation argument, holding that because National Geographic had a sufficient physical presence in California, it did not matter that those California contacts were related to a specific line of business. *Id.* at 561. The case is directly on point. And *National Geographic* was decided four weeks *after* the Supreme Court's landmark decision in *Complete Auto Transit*, which set forth the modern commerce clause standards.

Irwin argues that *National Geographic* was implicitly overruled by *Quill Corp. v. North Dakota*, 504 U.S. 298, 112 S. Ct. 1904, 119 L. Ed. 2d

91 (1992). But *Quill* does not address dissociation, or a business that has multiple operations or product lines. *Quill* addressed a North Dakota sales and use tax collection requirement imposed on an out-of-state mail order company that did not send employees or independent representatives into the State or have other in-state contacts. *Quill*, 504 U.S. at 301. *Quill* preserved "a safe harbor for vendors 'whose only connection with customers in the [taxing] State is by common carrier or the United States mail.' " *Id.* at 315 (quoting *Nat'l Bellas Hess, Inc. v. Illinois Dep't of Rev.*, 386 U.S. 753, 758, 87 S. Ct. 1389, 18 L. Ed. 2d 505 (1967)). *Quill* is clearly distinguishable because Irwin sent employees into Washington and contracted with independent representatives here to conduct business activity on its behalf. In other words, Irwin concedes the "physical presence" that was lacking in *Quill*.

Irwin cites no case authority from any jurisdiction supporting its novel interpretation of *Quill*. The fact that *Quill* clarified the contours of the due process clause and commerce clause does nothing to suggest the Court was reconsidering its holding in *National Geographic*, as the Court of Appeals correctly analyzed. This unsupported argument does not warrant review. Because the United States Supreme Court has directly addressed the issue, review by this Court is not warranted.

# B. This Court Does Not Need Another Decision Interpreting Former Rule 193.

The Department of Revenue has an administrative rule, WAC 458-20-193, that addresses many issues surrounding the taxation of interstate sales. The version of the rule in effect during the tax period provided the following with respect to B&O taxes: "If a seller carries on significant activity in this state and conducts no other business in the state except the business of making sales, this person has the distinct burden of establishing that the instate activities are not significantly associated in any way with the sales into this state." Former WAC 458-20-193(7)(c) (1991). The Department amended the rule several times over the years to incorporate changes in commerce clause case law concerning nexus and B&O taxes. Nevertheless, taxpayers such as Irwin continued to assert dissociation claims based on case law that no longer sets forth the modern standards for nexus. Accordingly, the Department significantly revised this rule again in 2016, deleting this portion of the rule altogether. See WAC 458-20-193 (2016) (Part I). Because the rule has now been amended, any decision based on the former version of the rule will not affect taxpayers in tax periods after 2016.

In addition, review based on this portion of the former version of the rule is not necessary. This section of the former rule is already at issue in *Avnet*, and a second ruling on the meaning of a former Department administrative rule would not be helpful to the general public.

The Court of Appeals was also correct on the merits. The Court correctly determined that the rule was the Department's attempt to distill the commerce clause case law. See Opinion at 25 n.4. The rule did not provide a different standard by which to raise a constitutional challenge. The Court correctly reasoned that Irwin did not prove a commerce clause violation either under the constitutional standards, or under the Department's interpretation of those constitutional standards in its administrative rule. Id.

# C. This Court Should Not Accept Review to Apply the Law to the Facts.

Irwin also appears to assert that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals incorrectly applied the law to the facts. See Pet. for Review at 9-12. This is not one of the grounds for review of a decision by the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4.

This case was decided on cross-motions for summary judgment.

Both parties agreed there were no genuine issues of material fact. The facts in the record primarily involved declarations by officers or employees of Irwin, and one deposition of a third party representative contracted by Irwin to promote its products to Costco. Ample facts

demonstrate a connection between Irwin's retail and wholesale sales, even assuming a connection is constitutionally required. *See* Opinion at 22-24.

The question at issue is a legal one. The Court of Appeals properly identified the modern nexus cases. Each of these cases looks not to whether in-state activities are related to specific sales, but at the effect those activities have in creating a broader market for a company's sales. Irwin's theory could have legs only if all of these cases are inapplicable and only the earlier *Norton* decision applies. The question of what law applies is the same legal question at issue in *Avnet*.

# D. The Court Should Defer Ruling on Irwin's Petition Until the Court Issues Its Decision in Avnet.

Avnet and this case address the same legal issue. This Court should therefore defer Irwin's petition until it decides Avnet. Though Avnet does not involve sales tax and would not impact this case as to that tax, the Court's review of the dissociation issue with respect to B&O taxes in Avnet is likely to control the outcome of this case. If this Court affirms Avnet on the constitutional nexus standard applied in that case, review of this case will not be warranted. Even if the Court were to modify the constitutional nexus standard applied in Avnet, the Court would have to

determine whether review or remand of the Court of Appeals decision in this case was necessary to apply a different constitutional standard.<sup>4</sup>

#### V. CONCLUSION

This case presents the same constitutional issue as another case already before this Court. The decision by the Court of Appeals is well-reasoned, thorough, and consistent with another published case by that court. The Court of Appeals and trial court correctly rejected Irwin's claim. This Court should deny the petition for review.